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               Larkin’s struggle, as seen by Ernest Kavanagh. Courtesy of Dublin City Library & Archive.
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            Larkin’s struggle, as seen by Ernest Kavanagh.

            The infamous baton charge on Bloody Sunday, 1913 became a stock image of the injustice that fuelled Larkinism.
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            2a Elizabeth Brown, probably on her wedding day in 1903.

            2b Pete Larkin, posing for a professional photographer, Poole of Waterford, in 1913. Pete was hoping to become an ITGWU organiser at this time.

            3 William Martin Murphy. Larkin’s nemesis in 1913, but Murphy lost the propaganda war.

            4a Larkin during the Belfast dock strike in 1907. Labourite and loyalist, Alex Boyd, in the straw hat, would turn against Larkin when he founded an Irish union.

            4b Home is the hero. Larkin on return from the United States, 1923.

            4c Larkin family: Jim, Elizabeth, Young Jim, Denis, and Fintan during the lockout.

            5a The world famous photo of Larkin, taken on his return to Dublin in 1923.

            5b Larkin, probably taken when he visited Moscow in 1924.

            5c Jack Carney in Moscow, probably 1925.

            6a The WUI Band. The social side of trade unionism was always important to Larkin and a big part of his appeal.

            6b Lying in state with a guard of WUI and Citizen Army veterans. Note his clasped hands, the crucifix, and the Starry Plough.

            7a WUI banner. Larkin as the public history would remember him.

            7b International Brigaders at the Larkin statue in Dublin’s O’Connell Street, now a symbol of the city, Labour, and solidarity.

            8 Liberty Hall, marking the centenary of the lockout.
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         ORGANISATIONS, NAMES, PLACES, AND TITLES

         
            
               
                  
                     
            
                        
                        	ARCOS
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	All-Russian Co-operative Society


                     
            
                        
                        	ASRS
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Amalgamated Society of Railway Servants


                     
            
                        
                        	BPA
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Belfast Protestant Association


                     
            
                        
                        	BTUC
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	British Trades Union Congress


                     
            
                        
                        	CI
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Communist International


                     
            
                        
                        	CPGB
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Communist Party of Great Britain


                     
            
                        
                        	CPI
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Communist Party of Ireland


                     
            
                        
                        	CPUSA
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Communist Party of the United States of America


                     
            
                        
                        	DMP
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Dublin Metropolitan Police


                     
            
                        
                        	ECCI
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Executive Committee of the Communist International


                     
            
                        
                        	GAA
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Gaelic Athletic Association


                     
            
                        
                        	ICWPA
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	International Class War Prisoners’ Aid


                     
            
                        
                        	ILP
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Independent Labour Party


                     
            
                        
                        	ILPTUC
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Irish Labour Party and Trade Union Congress


                     
            
                        
                        	IPP
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Irish Parliamentary Party


                     
            
                        
                        	IRA
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Irish Republican Army


                     
            
                        
                        	IRB
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Irish Republican Brotherhood


                     
            
                        
                        	ITGWU
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Irish Transport and General Workers’ Union


                     
            
                        
                        	ITUC
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Irish Trades Union Congress


                     
            
                        
                        	IWL
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Irish Worker League


                     
            
                        
                        	IWW
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Industrial Workers of the World


                     
            
                        
                        	IWWU
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Irish Women Workers’ Union


                     
            
                        
                        	MP
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Member of Parliament


                     
            
                        
                        	NSFU
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	National Sailors’ and Firemen’s Union


                     
            
                        
                        	NTWF
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	National Transport Workers’ Federation


                     
            
                        
                        	NUDL
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	National Union of Dock Labourers


                     
            
                        
                        	OBU
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	One Big Union


                     
            
                        
                        	PC
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Parliamentary Committee


                     
            
                        
                        	RIC
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Royal Irish Constabulary


                     
            
                        
                        	ROP
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Russian Oil Products Ltd


                     
            
                        
                        	RWG
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Revolutionary Workers’ Groups


                     
            
                        
                        	SDF
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Social Democratic Federation



                     
            
                        
                        	SIPTU
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Services, Industrial, Professional, and Technical Union


                     
            
                        
                        	SPI
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Socialist Party of Ireland


                     
            
                        
                        	TD
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Teachta Dála


                     
            
                        
                        	UK
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	United Kingdom


                     
            
                        
                        	US
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	United States


                     
            
                        
                        	USSR
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Union of Soviet Socialist Republics


                     
            
                        
                        	VKP(b)
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Vsesoyuznaya Kommunisticheskaya Partiya (bolshevikov) (All-Union Communist Party (Bolsheviks))


                     
            
                        
                        	WIR
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Workers’ International Relief


                     
            
                        
                        	WPI
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Workers’ Party of Ireland


                     
            
                        
                        	WUI
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Workers’ Union of Ireland


                     
            
                        
                        	 


                     
            
                        
                        	SOURCES, ARCHIVES, AND LIBRARIES


                     
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	 


                     
            
                        
                        	DJ
            
                        
                        	       
            
                        
                        	Department of Justice


                     
            
                        
                        	DT
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Department of the Taoiseach


                     
            
                        
                        	FBI
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Federal Bureau of Investigation


                     
            
                        
                        	ILHA
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Irish Labour History Archive


                     
            
                        
                        	NA
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	National Archives


                     
            
                        
                        	NAUK
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	National Archives of the United Kingdom


                     
            
                        
                        	NLI
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	National Library of Ireland


                     
            
                        
                        	PRONI
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Public Record Office of Northern Ireland


                     
            
                        
                        	RGASPI
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Rossiiskii Gosudartsvennyi Arkhiv Sotsial’no-Politischeskoi Istorii (Russian State Archive for Social and Political History)


                     
            
                        
                        	UCDA
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	University College Dublin Archives


                     
            
                        
                        	UUMC
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	University of Ulster, Magee College


                     
            
                        
                        	YMCA
            
                        
                        	 
            
                        
                        	Young Men’s Christian Association


                  
               

            

         

          NOTE ON TERMS

         
             

         

         By ‘Labour’ is meant trade union bodies and related political groups, or officials of these organisations. All other references will be referred to as ‘labour’. The Irish Trades Union Congress was founded in 1894, added ‘and Labour Party’ to its name in 1914, changed the title to the Irish Labour Party and Trade Union Congress in 1918, and to the Irish Trade Union Congress in 1930. Throughout this period it was also known simply as ‘Congress’.
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               The infamous baton charge on Bloody Sunday, 1913 became a stock image of the injustice that fuelled Larkinism. Reproduced courtesy of the RTÉ Stills Library.

            

         

      

   


   
      
         

            INTRODUCTION

         

         
            Jim Larkin is the greatest figure in Irish Labour mythology. He has of course very human and realistic significance also, but his first association – possibly we ought to say concussion – with the Irish mind in general was distinctly mythological. To many he is non-human and mythological still.

            W. P. Ryan1

            
                

            

            —

         

         ‘Another book on Ireland’s most famous trade unionist needs no defence’, began the 2002 biography James Larkin. If Larkin is getting better served, he remains understudied. Benchmarking Larkin against James Connolly, and vice versa, is facile, and irresistible. A ‘parallel lives’ beckons. Some 200 studies of Connolly were available in 1980. Today, the number exceeds 1,000, in languages as diverse as Danish and Catalan.2 By contrast, relatively little of substance has been written on Larkin, despite his longer, more colourful and controversial life, and greater impact on trade union history. While Connolly has attracted several comprehensive biographies and hundreds of thoughtful interpretations, the typical publication on Larkin is either a short monograph on an aspect of his career, or a semi-popular encomium. Even the centenary of the 1913 Lockout did not change this situation, and gave us more monographs, some indeed very valuable, and more encomiums. While Larkin is referred to in over 700 publications, the only substantial biography is Emmet Larkin’s James Larkin: Irish Labour Leader, 1876–1947 (1965), to which should be added Donal Nevin’s edited collection, James Larkin: Lion of the Fold (1998), a great, if uneven and repetitive, compendium.

         One can understand the reluctance to grapple with a complete wordpicture of Big Jim. He left no private papers, and scarcely bothered with documentation as a union leader. Information on the post 1930 period is particularly inadequate on the Workers’ Union of Ireland (WUI). In part this was because of his distaste for paper work. In part it was deliberate, to prevent others knowing his business. The price he paid was that much of the extant comment on his character and motives was penned by his opponents or critics. Personal portraiture, the lifeblood of biography, is even more problematic. Little is known of his domestic life, though pioneering work on his relations with his sister, Delia, and Jack Carney, his sometime familiar, has been done by Moriarty and Curry.3 Larkin’s life, over half of which was spent outside Ireland, has a disjointed, episodic character, and switched back and forth between apparently messianic purpose and languid self-indulgence. The first 30 years were spent in obscurity. For the next seven, from 1907 to 1914, he seems too overwhelming a figure to be condensed in a book. The birth of the Irish Transport and General Workers’ Union (ITGWU) was mythic, and the 1913 Lockout an epic. He then spent nine enigmatic years in America, and returned home to a quarrel the trade union movement wished to forget. There followed decades of disappointment, painful for a biographer as well as his subject. Emmet Larkin glossed over the last 25 years in as many pages, pleading: ‘To chronicle nearly twenty years of decline is depressing.’4 Inevitably, all biographers of Larkin are judged on how they handle the darker side of his life. Character flaws and mistakes test the mettle of any writer who wishes to affirm the worth of his subject’s work and ideas. As noted, comparison with Connolly is unfortunate and inescapable. Of the two Larkin has come across as the more one-dimensional figure with nothing to offer other than a powerful voice and the simple message of solidarity. In reality, he had plenty of good ideas on trade unionism and on politics, and offered insightful observations on topics as diverse as surviving imprisonment or the commemoration of World War I. They do not deserve to be forgotten just because, unlike Connolly, who obliged historians by collecting his thoughts neatly and clearly, their author scattered his about newspaper articles and speeches or embedded them too implicitly in his activities. And, of course, Larkin’s Napoleonic genius for motivation ought to be required study for all would-be leaders of men and women.

         My own James Larkin (2002) was commissioned as a short, synoptic overview. This did not appear to be a problem initially, given the volume, as distinct from the quality, of writing on the subject, the absence of private papers, and the paucity of sources in Ireland on his activities after 1923. There seemed little more to be said until the archives of the Communist International in Moscow and Larkin’s FBI file, not available to previous biographers, present ed much more information on the post-lockout years, and – more perplexingly – a radically different picture of the man to that in existing biographies. Now the word limit became a severe hindrance as it was not possible to write comprehensively on the fresh evidence or present prima facie the material on which conclusions were based. In consequence, the book’s criticism of Larkin was sometimes taken to be unfair, or based on opinion, or an attack on Larkinism. Since 2002, the inadequacy of the book has been increased by the discovery of police files on Larkin in the National Archives of the United Kingdom, and by new intelligence on Delia and Carney. Carney especially, will be an important window on the private Larkin.

         Larkin’s discrepancy and ego-centrism make him the kind of man who can be understood only through biography. He was no mere reflection of the cause or the organisations he claimed to serve. In consequence of his secretiveness, his private ambitions are not always evident from his public statements. The greatest mistake people make about Larkin is to take him at face value. The coyness has left him open to the charges of inconsistency, hypocrisy, and selfishness. It has also concealed a sophistication in his thinking. Far from being a mindless militant, for example, he appreciated that strikes were usually expensive and often futile. The Irish Worker, Liberty Hall, and Croydon Park, were not just a newspaper, a head office, and a recreation centre for the ITGWU. They were alternative methods of class struggle through the weapons of mass media, solidarity, and culture. At a more prosaic level, so many questions about Larkin, such as why he went to America in 1914, why he linked up with Moscow 1924, and why he broke with the Communist International in 1929, can only be answered by painstaking historical archaeology. But they can be answered. Through exhaustive biography it is possible to construct a complete picture and surmount the three supreme challenges posed by Larkinology. The first of these is to be certain that one is dealing with the genuine Larkin, not the public image. The second is to find the evidence that will compensate for the want of records. The third is to do justice to the fact that Larkin’s greatness lies not in what he did, but in image and idea; in the image of 1913 and the risen people, and the idea of workers’ solidarity as a code of honour. He was unique in inserting an industrial dispute into mainstream Irish history, in creating a positive view of that struggle in an otherwise hostile climate, and in ennobling strike tactics into a morality of struggle. That Larkin has been celebrated more in art and literature than history is appropriate to the extent that we want to capture his relevance to contemporary society.

         There are those who would prefer to preserve Big Jim, untarnished, as a legend, and others who think it can do no good to rake over the disruption he caused in the days when he was not so much a black sheep as a raging bull. To these one can only ask: what is it about Larkin that you don’t want to know, how is Labour stronger by not squaring up to reality? As Karl Marx argued, the most radical expression of reality is the truth. Aside from the intrinsic fascination of his varied and controversial career, and the complex of motivations behind it, Larkin is far too central to too many events in labour history to leave unscrutinised. Above all, we need to assess his record as a leader. Whether as a political or industrial agitator, trade union general secretary, newspaper editor, or politician, that was the role he aspired to in life. Leadership is a concept which has rarely been examined in Irish labour biography, partly because labour itself is under-researched, and if one does not know the forces, one cannot judge the command. No leader should be evaluated independently of the use he makes of the resources or potential at his disposal. Leadership is the ultimate measure of Larkin. The myth and the legacy are beyond measure.

         
            NOTES

            1 W. P. Ryan, The Irish Labour Movement from the ’Twenties to Our Own Day (Dublin, 1919), p. 170.

            2 See Helga Woggon, ‘Landscapes of James Connolly, 1916–2016: from re-interpretation to reconquest?’, Socialist History (forthcoming, 2016).

            3 Theresa Moriarty, ‘Delia Larkin: relative obscurity’, in Donal Nevin (ed.), James Larkin: Lion of the Fold (Dublin, 1998), pp. 428–38; James Curry, ‘Delia Larkin: “More harm to the big fellow than any of the employers”?’, Saothar 36 (2011), pp. 19–25.

            4 Emmet Larkin, James Larkin: Irish Labour Leader, 1876–1947 (London, 1965), p. 294.

         

      

   


   
      
         

            ONE

            A MAN’S MAN, 1874–1906

         

         
            a big boned, large-framed man, broad shoulders held not too high nor too proudly, giving him an air of stooping over ordinary men when he was speaking to them. Bright blue eyes flashed from dark heavy brows: a long fleshy nose, hollowed out cheeks, prominent cheek bones, a long, thick neck, the cords of which stood out when he was angry, a powerful, stubborn chin, a head longer and a forehead higher than in most men, suggesting plenty of room for the brain pan. Big Jim was well over six feet tall … Long arms and legs, great hands like shovels, big, rounded shoes, shaped in front like the rear of a canal boat, completed the picture.

            Bert Wolfe1

            
                

            

            —

         

         James Larkin was born on 28 January 1874 at 41Combermere Street, Liverpool, and baptised on 4 February at Saint Patrick’s Church, Park Road, Toxteth. His birth certificate gave no middle name, though he was married as James Joseph.2 The widespread belief that Jim was born in 1876 or later probably owes more to vanity than genuine confusion on his part. In the 1881 and 1891 censuses, his age is given, correctly, as seven and 17. But he claimed to be 27 on his marriage certificate in 1903, 31 in the 1911 census, and 42 in his New York trial in 1920.3 Both his parents came of tenant farmer stock from around Newry; his father from Lower Killeavy, south Armagh, and his mother from Burn or Burren, south Down. From 1909 at latest, Jim would consistently describe himself as an Ulsterman, born in the maternal family homestead at Tamnaharry, near Burren, and Jim’s grandson insisted fiercely on the family tradition.4 Big Jim too was informed on the topography of his Ulster antecedents.5 It is possible that to bond the lad with Ireland – or something better than a Liverpool slum – Jim’s parents brought him up in this belief, but the evidence is against it. In the 1881 census all of their children were listed as Liverpool-born. And Fred Bower, Jim’s boyhood best-friend and future comrade, knew him as ‘a tall, raw-boned Liverpool-born son of an Irishman’.6 Tellingly, Jim’s public insistence on his Ulster nativity followed his decision to settle in Ireland. Emigration was sufficiently common a feature of Irish life to make English birth uncontroversial, but one with ambition to lead Irish Labour, and about to argue that Irish workers should be in Irish unions, might have felt it gifted ammunition to his enemies. This indeed would be the case, and the mud-slinging was not confined to cat’s paws of the bosses in the heat of battle in 1913.7

         The family story was the all too familiar one of flight from a stricken, backward society to the lowest rungs of grimy modernity. Jim’s paternal grandfather, Bernard, or Barney, watched his children emigrate one after the other on the boat from Warrenpoint to Liverpool. He too would go, when old age forced him to give up the farm. Liverpool was then the second busiest port in Britain – which itself registered some 40 per cent of the world’s shipping – and its vast casual dock labour force made it a magnet for Irish immigrants. Catholics congregated around the north-end docks, and Protestants around the south-end, though there was a sizeable Catholic enclave in Toxteth, near the south-end. Jim’s father, James, settled in Toxteth, with his father, his sister, and her husband.

         In July 1871, James married Mary Ann McNulty (sometimes spelt McAnulty or McNalty). They met when she was visiting relatives in Liverpool, and Mary Ann did not move to Toxteth until shortly before the wedding. He was 22, she was a year older.8 There is a family tradition that her parents were farmers, had her destined for life with a businessman in Newry, and that her higher social standing and strong will made her the more assertive partner.9 However, at the time of the marriage, her father and his were labourers, and both the bride and groom were illiterate. The couple would have three sons and three daughters; Hugh on 21 July 1872; Jim and Agnes, who died at birth; Bridget, to become better known as Delia, on 27 February 1878; Peter on 12 August 1880; and Margaret. Little is known of Margaret other than that she was the youngest.

         CHILDHOOD

         As with his birth, controversy surrounds Jim’s childhood. Friends of his in the British and Irish Labour movements believed he spent some of his early years in Ireland. Jim was the source for his first biography, four articles by George Dallas in the Glasgow socialist paper Forward in 1909. Dallas claimed he was

         
            born in a place with an unmentionable – at least unspellable – name in County Down some 32 years ago. He was taken across to England when a few days old, and sent to school before his third birthday. Returned to Ireland again at six years of age, attended Byrne School, County Down, for some six months – returned to Liverpool at the expiration of the six months referred to, and immediately started work.10

         

         W. P. Ryan, assistant editor of the Daily Herald during the 1913 Lockout, told a similar story in his pioneering history of Irish Labour.11 There is a biblical and messianic flavour to the account of R. M. Fox, a friend of the Larkins in Dublin:

         
            Just after Jim was born, word came to Mary that her father was seriously ill. So when the child was barely a month old she set out with him. The ship ran into a violent storm, and when she landed at Newry she was so ill that she could not continue the journey. Friends looked after her there. Her father died while she was staying in Newry. Her mother relented so far as to send the pony trap from the farm to bring her home. The reconciliation was completed by young Jim, for Mrs McNulty was so pleased with her grandson that when Mary was strong enough to return she left the baby at the farmhouse under his grandmother’s care … Young Jim did not return to Liverpool until he was about five years old.12

         

         The discrepancy in versions of Jim’s Irish sojourn itself casts doubt on the story. It is unlikely that he ever left Liverpool. Jim was one of those people who never changed their accent, and that accent was a unique form of Liverpool-Irish.13 The Irish noted the Lancashire in it, while the English thought it rather Irish. He made no mention of Irish schooling in a statement during his New York trial in 1920:

         
            I went to school for three and a quarter years altogether, and a great deal of that time I was welcome as a part-timer, in an English school. That is why I drop my ‘h’s’. It was an English Catholic school too … [and] poverty stricken…14

         

         He may also have inserted gratuitous ‘h’s’. The Voice of Labour caricatured him in 1924 as saying ‘h-I’ve’ for ‘I’ve’, and ‘I h-am’ for ‘I am’.15 His school was Our Lady of Mount Carmel, Chipping Street, Liverpool. Bower remembered him as a gang leader at the school, to the fore in battles with Bower’s Protestant gang, especially around Saint Patrick’s Day and 12 July. Though Bower was two years older, and would grow into a hardy man with a chiselled face, he reckoned Jim as tougher: ‘let that tall leader catch me by myself, and I went through it. Two marks I will carry to the grave, where he cut my head open, or rather the skin that covers it.’16 At the age of seven, Jim became a ‘half-timer’, a pupil permitted to divide the day between lessons and work. Probably because he suffered from asthma, Jim’s father chose to work as a quarryman and foundry labourer rather than a docker; which meant that the money was regular, but there was less of it, and up to the 1880s the family lived in various addresses in the slums. Jim slaved in turn as a help to a milkman, butcher, house painter and decorator, and french polisher. It had an embittering effect. He would subsequently attribute his ‘want of tact’ to the crass exploitation involved and the contrast between the religion imparted at school and the ‘Christian’ employers outside.17

         
            I was taught the truth of eternal justice, and I was taught the brotherhood of man was a true and living thing, and the fear of God was a thing that ought to cover all my days and also control my actions.

            And then I had occasion to go out into the world and found out there was no fatherhood of God, and there was no brotherhood of man, but everyman in society was compelled to be like a wolf or a hyena, trying to tear down the other man that he might gain an advantage either by the other man’s suffering, or by the other man’s sorrow, or, which was more important, the sorrow of his wife, the sorrow of his woman, the sorrow of his daughter, the sorrow of his children.18

         

         The frustration of dead end jobs also provoked outbursts of egocentrism and temper. While Jim adored his parents, and appreciated that they needed the money, he recalled that aged ten – probably he was older – a fight with an employer caused him to take off for seven weeks on the tramp around Liverpool, London, and Cardiff.

         Meanwhile, his father had risen to become a fitter at 25s per week; giving him an income just above the poverty line, and enabling the Larkins to move to a two-story house in Melville Street. This phase of relative comfort was cut short in February 1888, when James died of tuberculosis. As a gesture, the firm took on the two eldest boys, Hugh and Jim, as engineering apprentices at 3s per week, and waived the stiff apprenticeship fee. Jim was now 14, and he may have already left Chipping Street. The apprenticeship lasted until April 1891 at least, when Jim was listed in the census as an apprentice fitter, living at 111 Wellington Road, Toxteth Park. According to himself, he was sacked for refusing to contribute to a sweepstake on the Aintree Grand National. Following a spell of unemployment, he found work as a seaman, and finally as a docker.

         A TYPICAL ILP’ER

         Jim’s political consciousness was now taking shape. The Larkins was a political household, and it was easy to stay in touch with Irish politics in the city. Liverpool’s Scotland constituency even had an Irish Nationalist MP, T. P. O’Connor. Jim’s uncles in Killeavy may have been Fenians. After 1908 he would boast that his father had been a Fenian, and enrolled him in the Irish National League. Encounters with anti-Irish prejudice was another defining factor, which may have permanently coloured his attitude to England. Less than four years before his death he recalled:

         
            In my time at school in England when we came out into the street there would be a gang outside who would shout: ‘Hit up these Irish’ … There was a great deal of hatred throughout England for the Irish. Those who had to travel in England and Wales organising in connection with the trade union movement knew what they had principally to contend with was their Irish faces. They do not hate us any more in England. There is no more of that fanatical hatred for the Irish people, but there is what is even worse, contempt for them.19

         

         The sibling closest to Jim was Peter, better known as Pete. Jim recalled Pete’s birth in Melville Street, and how delicate he was as a child. Jim’s insistence that he take a daily dose of emulsion led Pete to call him ‘the Big Fellow’ all his life.20 The pair were two of a kind, in their physical make-up and mentality. ‘Was there ever a man with more stentorian tones than Peter?’, recalled J. T. Murphy, who first met the Larkins in 1913. ‘He was not so big a man as Jim, but nevertheless powerful, a rugged, swarthy dock worker and seaman, who had knocked about the ports of the world.’21 Pete formed a Catholic Democratic League during anti-Catholic riots in Liverpool in the 1890s, complete with its own fife and drum band, in which Pete was drum major.22 The title echoed the Irish Democratic League of Great Britain, associated with Michael Davitt. Exile and the absence of a stable home life may also explain why Jim’s nationalism acquired a sentimental quality as he matured into middle age. But his collision with the capitalist jungle made the deeper cut, leading to membership of the Social Democratic Federation (SDF) in 1890.23 Later as a docker he was seriously injured by a machine operated by an apprentice. The boy’s father paid him £1 for each of the 19 weeks he took to recover. For Jim it was a ‘crowded hour of glorious life’.24 By day he would read at the Picton Library, and in the evenings listen to the speakers at socialist street meetings.

         His restlessness persisted, and perhaps twice Jim stowed away for the Americas. Fox believes that on Jim’s first attempt, in 1893, the ship landed in New York, where he was jailed for ‘some months’ as a stowaway and for shipboard insubordination, and then scampered home a chastened lad. According to Fox, the humiliation had a maturing effect on his personality and politics, while prison converted him to a lifelong reading habit.25 Certainly, back in Liverpool in 1893 he settled into a more purposeful life.

         Jim took to visiting the Clarion club and café at 30 Lord Street. The Clarion movement would have a formative impact on his socialism. Founded as a weekly paper in Manchester in 1891 by Robert Blatchford and Alexander M. Thompson, the Clarion’s ideology and style were encapsulated in the title of Blatchford’s best-selling booklet Merrie England. Soon there were Clarion vans leafleting the villages of England, Clarion choirs and Clarion scouts, and Clarion drama, cycling, rambling, and handicraft clubs, as well as Clarion cafés. Jim would try to develop a similar socialist culture in Dublin. Unemployment was a regular topic of discussion in the Lord Street café. Often idle himself, Jim joined the socialist demonstrations, and helped his childhood pal, John Wolfe Tone Morrissey, form the Toxteth branch of Keir Hardie’s Independent Labour Party (ILP). Some branches of the party, including that in Belfast, were organised in 1892, before the official launch in 1893. It was in the ILP that Jim first met Tom Johnson, a future bête noire and then one of its Liverpool branch secretaries.26 During these years, socialists divided between the Marxist SDF and the non-doctrinaire ILP. Both became foundation groups of the Labour Representation Committee in 1900, but the SDF departed the following year, complaining of the Committee’s hostility to Marxism. Though it was not unusual for people to join whichever of the two was foremost in their locality, and he had been in the SDF, Jim was a typical ILP’er, for whom socialism was a humanist religion, rooted in morality rather than science. Throughout his life he was essentially a moralist. In some respects the ILP remained his spiritual home. In 1924 Jim’s Irish Worker featured a front-page eulogy of Hardie on the ninth anniversary of his death, lauding him as

         
            a Republican among Republicans: a man above men … a rebel all his life against tyranny … ever an enemy against all snobbishness, servility, pharisaical respectability … the anthithesis of Labour leaders typified by [Ramsay] MacDonald in England, and the [Tom] Johnsonian clique in this country.27

         

         It was Jim’s self-image too.

         Within a few years, Jim was serving his oratorical apprenticeship at ILP meetings around Merseyside. He kept the message simple: capitalism was a moral obscenity, nationalisation of the means of production, distribution, and exchange, would unlock man’s capacity to eliminate poverty and exploitation. He also signalled his lifelong loathing of imperialism in organising protests against the Boer War, which was opposed by the British left, and claimed to have helped smuggle David Lloyd George, disguised in a policeman’s uniform, through a maddened crowd of jingoes at an anti-war meeting in Birmingham.28 On another dramatic night, 27 June 1904, Bower decided there ought to be a workers’ remembrance in the foundations of Liverpool’s Anglican Cathedral and that Jim was the man to help him do it. The pair stole across the site to bury a time-capsule where, three weeks later, King Edward vii and Queen Alexandra would lay the cathedral’s foundation stone. The tin capsule contained copies of the Clarion and Labour Leader and the message:

         TO THE FINDERS, HAIL!

         
            We, the wage slaves employed on the erection of this cathedral, to be dedicated to the worship of the unemployed Jewish carpenter, hail ye! Within a stone’s throw from here, human beings are housed in slums not fit for swine. This message, written on trust-produced paper with trust-produced ink, is to tell ye how we of to-day are at the mercy of trusts. Building fabrics, clothing, food, fuel, transport, are all in the hands of money-mad, soul-destroying trusts. We can only sell our labour power, as wage slaves, on their terms. The money trusts to-day own us. In your day, you will, thanks to the efforts of past and present agitators for economic freedom, own the trusts. Yours will indeed, compared to ours of to-day, be a happier existence. See to it, therefore, that ye, too, work for the betterment of all, and so justify your existence by leaving the world the better for your having lived in it. Thus and thus only shall come about the Kingdom of ‘God’ or ‘Good’ on Earth. Hail, Comrades, and – Farewell.29

         

         Written by Bower, the message could equally be described as vintage Larkinism.

         There were two personal traits in Jim’s oratory: a Victorian sense of manly virtue and duty to women and family – he would often select vice to illustrate the evils of capitalism – and a disdain for workers’ self-abasement and indifference to their potential. On the quayside, Jim worked in a supremely macho environment. Some 20–25,000 men stood in for work on the Liverpool docks each day, of whom 12–15,000 might be ‘put-on’ in the summer, and 16–17,000 in the busier winter months, when there would be more coal to move.30 Injuries were common. There were 89 fatal, and 4,070 non-fatal, accidents reported on docks, wharves, and quays in the United Kingdom in 1898, when the UK had an estimated 74,340 dockers.31 To social reformers, it was a brutalising system of exploitation, which encouraged the violence and drunkenness for which dockers were notorious. Yet most dockers liked the freedom which casualism conferred, and took pride in the survival of the fittest.

         In 1901, as work was slack, Jim stowed away again. Daring tramps and salty tales were not unusual among waterfront socialists of the time. The best of them all had their stories. Jim claimed he was discovered en route to Montevideo, was pressed into the crew, defied a tyrannical captain, suffered a harrowing time chained in the brig with the rats eating his nails, jumped ship, and spent a year working his passage around various ports from Valparaiso to Norfolk, Virginia, loafing as a beachcomber, and even joining a revolution in Buenos Aires.32 Dublin street meetings were entertained to versions of the story in the 1940s, and in 1943, in a speech that was sometimes bizarre, he informed Dáil Éireann that he had a little Spanish.33

         THE ‘COD BOSS’

         Returning to Liverpool in 1902, Jim took to a more settled life. By 1903, he had risen to foreman dock-porter with T. & J. Harrison, a permanent post paying £3.10s per week. Harrison’s discharged big ships, with six to eight holds, and the foreman docker was a glorified Stakhanovite, whose job was to set the pace for his gang. The dockers called them ‘cod bosses’ and Jim was bad enough to be nicknamed ‘the Rusher’.34 But he also set a moral standard, by example. He didn’t smoke, though he would later take a pipe or a cigar. He didn’t gamble. He hated drink. Unlike most foremen, he refused to pay his men in pubs. He never took bribes, which was the major grievance with dockers, and cut pilferage on the ships he handled to a minimum. He came to develop a paternal attitude towards his men, who sometimes looked to him for advice. His free hours were given not only to the ILP, but to charitable work in the slums with the Civic Guild of Liverpool. According to Jack Carney, ‘He loved to recite poetry but never got beyond one or two verses. His favourite poets were Francis Adams, P.B. Shelley and William Morris. They were the singers of his discontent.’35 Through all his days he retained an informed interest in literature, poetry, and drama.

         Carney came to know Larkin as few others ever did.36 Born in Dublin in 1887, Carney was orphaned as a two-year-old and raised in Liverpool by his grandfather. His misfortune continued when his grandfather died and he was forced to abandon a mathematics scholarship to a private school for work in a chemical plant in Widnes. Fifteen miles up the Mersey, Widnes was a major centre of the chemical industry, infamously polluted, and a place of last resort for desperate immigrants from Ireland and eastern Europe. The Daily Mail described it as a ‘poisonous hell-town’.37 Carney tried to persevere with his studies at night school until exhaustion forced him to stick with the day job. It seemed the fates had dealt him a death sentence and conspired to ensure there was no escape. Then one day in Widnes, aged 18 and spiritually crushed, he heard Larkin speak. It was a life-changing experience – ‘you thrilled me as I have never been thrilled since’ – which led Carney from Liverpool to Dublin and Belfast in 1911. Making ‘active contact’ with Larkin in 1913, he became his closest colleague, and at times a personal secretary, between 1916 and 1937.

         In addition to literature, poetry, and drama, soccer is likely to have been another of Larkin’s interests. Walking along Clonard Street in west Belfast in 1907 in search of the dockers’ champion, Mick McKeown, he stopped and questioned Mick’s son, Seán:

         
            ‘was you playing football today.’ Then he told me he had played for Liverpool reserves, and with candour – one of the characteristics of his public life – admitted he didn’t make the senior grade because he was too slow and cumbersome. About five years later when playing for Cliftonville against Shelbourne in Dublin, I visited him … He was annoyed when I told him I was playing for Cliftonville, and asked could I not play for a working man’s team instead of those snobs. I replied that Cliftonville players were all workers like myself, and as I was against professionalism in sport I preferred to play for them.38

         

         An incorruptible Corinthian, Seán later became secretary and chairman of the Antrim County Board of the Gaelic Athletic Association and a firm upholder of the ban on ‘foreign games’.39

         MARRIAGE

         The picture of Victorian socialist rectitude was complete on 8 September 1903, when Jim married Elizabeth Brown.40 Elizabeth was 24, tall and russet haired. In the 1901 census she was listed as living at 256 Park Road, Toxteth, with her elder brothers, Thomas and William, and their parents, Robert and Martha. Robert hailed from Croxton in Staffordshire. His wife and children were Liverpool-born. The family had strong dockland connections. Thomas was a warehouseman in the rubber trade, William a shipyard timekeeper, and Robert managed a dockside temperance café which Jim frequented. Robert was also a Baptist lay-preacher, and his daughter was quiet, homely, given to housekeeping and good works, and not known to have an occupation. She showed no interest in politics, but accompanied Jim to ILP meetings. At the time of the marriage, the bride and groom were living in Toxteth Park, he with his mother at 37 Roche Street, she at 58 Ashbourne Road. The couple lived with Jim’s mother, and Elizabeth had little contact with her family afterwards. She would eventually have four sons, of whom the eldest, James, was born in Liverpool on 20 August 1904. According to Jim’s grandson, it was a marriage of ‘chalk and cheese’.41 As her husband’s career became more turbulent, Elizabeth grew to yearn for a quiet life. She may also have felt as neglected by her husband as she would be by historians. Jim later impressed Ellen Grimley, who knew him in Belfast around 1912, as ‘a very handsome chap in those days’, but no ladies’ man; just ‘a big thorough going fellow with his pipe in his mouth … happy marching with the men …’ When he and James Connolly got together, ‘they would be talking serious matters. I wouldn’t be noticed any more than if I didn’t exist.’ Winnie Carney told her that Jim travelled without a valise, making do with spare paper collars and handkerchiefs.42 An American secret service agent later noted: ‘He is a very shabby dresser.’43

         The marriage to Elizabeth was a civil ceremony in Liverpool Registry Office. Religion had an importance for Jim, after a fashion. He was born, and died, a Catholic. In adult life he combined a socialist scepticism about the politics and double standards of organised religion with tribal loyalty to the Catholic Church and an ingrained belief in Christian values; which meant he didn’t practice, but still identified with mother church. His attitude to religion also depended on context. In Liverpool, where the church was associated with the Irish Nationalist Party and hostile to socialism, he is not known to have quibbled with socialist clashes with the church and Catholic Labourites. Elizabeth may have had a bigger influence on her husband than is appreciated. His speeches had a Protestant complexion in their numerous biblical references and appeals to Christian values rather than Catholic teaching. Yet he claimed to have organised the Catholic Socialist Society in Glasgow with John Wheatley – which is possible, given that it was founded in 1906 and was closely aligned with the ILP – and in Dublin he, the children, and even Elizabeth, were returned as Catholics in the 1911 census.44 In 1913 he was shocked by the acclaimed and pioneering Das Mirakel, a German film based on a medieval legend in which a statue of the Blessed Virgin comes to life to take the place of a nun until the wayward sister, after several spicy adventures, returns to her convent. Jim lambasted it as a blasphemous assault ‘on the symbols sacred to me from a child, since the mother that bore me taught me to lisp, Hail Mary, full of grace, and to revere the very name of the Mother of God’.45 His outrage extended to the very idea that the film should be screened in Catholic Dublin. The Irish Worker mourned the death of Pope Pius x in August 1914 with a black-trimmed editorial affirming the eternal power of the Roman Church: ‘Long live the Pope … The Pope and all he stands for lives.’ More usually, Jim deplored the hypocrisy of pharisaic employers and politicians who exploited God in the service of Mammon, and the reactionary clerics who supported them. It was not anti-clericalism but Christianity that made him cynical of Christian tolerance of capitalist greed, and resentful of clerical criticism of Labour. In the United States he would bridle at anti-clericalism on the left, and earn a notoriety for his defensiveness about the church. In Soviet Russia, he would assure the Bolsheviks that God existed.

         IN THE ‘IRISH UNION’

         There was one respect in which Jim was to modify his ideological outlook at this time. James Sexton’s contention that initially he shared the hard left view of trade unions as palliatives of capitalism and useless as instruments of political change is plausible. While Jim helped launch a branch of the Workers’ Union in Liverpool in 1898, this union for general operatives was intended to be a semi-industrial, semi-political ‘Labour League’, and was closely identified with ILP’ers before Hardie denounced it as too amorphous to be of service.46 The Workers’ Union would have a rather unfortunate history in Ireland, crossing swords with just about everyone. Jim did not join a union until 1901, when Sexton refused to sit with a ‘non’ – the polite term for non-unionists – on an unemployed committee on which Jim represented the ILP. Jim joined the National Union of Dock Labourers of Great Britain and Ireland (NUDL).47 Sexton later claimed he was no more than a token member, but Jim’s rise to prominence in 1905 suggests his commitment was more substantial than that.

         Sexton’s interventions in Ireland from 1907 to 1910 have cast him as a dastardly villain in Larkinite history, which is accurate, but not the whole picture. His early life was as tough as Jim’s. Born of Irish itinerant hawkers in Newcastle on Tyne in 1856, his parents subsequently settled in St Helen’s on Merseyside and ran a stall in the local market. He would sometimes accompany his father and grandfather on ‘missionary’ work for the Irish Republican Brotherhood among railway navvies. After primary school he went to sea, and worked in a chemical factory and on the Liverpool docks, where an accident hardened his attitude towards employers. From 1891 he was to the fore in unemployed agitation, and in 1893 became general secretary of the NUDL. Like Jim, he had a literary side, contributed to various newspapers, including the Clarion, and wrote stories and two plays.48

         Founded in Glasgow, as one of the ‘new unions’ of unskilled workers created during the big strike wave in 1889–90, the NUDL was soon headquartered in Liverpool and known colloquially as ‘the Irish union’ because of its composition and leadership. One of its rules, number 19, stated:

         
            No member shall use unbecoming words or references to any other member’s religious opinions, or nationality, or antecedents, it being a fundamental principle of the Union that all men are brothers.49

         

         It had been a leading ‘new union’ in Ireland too, spreading south from Belfast in late 1889. By mid-1891 it organised in 15 Irish ports and claimed 2,000 members. The tide was on the turn, however. The railway and shipping companies, widely regarded as the most obdurate employers, had given a lead to their fellows by granting concessions initially. Now they set another example by weeding out activists and replacing them with ‘nons’. Strikes were broken in Derry, Sligo, Dundalk, and Waterford, and a heavy defeat followed in Belfast in 1892 after four months of struggle. Decline continued over the next decade, and by 1905 the ‘Irish union’s’ Irish base had dwindled to feeble outposts in Derry and Drogheda.

         An able administrator and a good man-manager, Sexton was a popular general secretary. He always pursued a non-confrontational line, arguing that through moderation the NUDL was one of the few ‘new unions’ to survive. Legal tactics, such as parliamentary enquiries, the extension of the Factory Acts, or the application of safety regulations, were his preferred weapons. However in 1905, he was caught between membership militancy and employer obduracy. Seven of T. & J. Harrison’s 35 foremen had let their union membership lapse, and on 27 June 611 dockers struck unofficially to maintain the closed shop. During these years waterfront employers especially used scabs as a standard weapon against strikes. The Shipping Federation operated as a ‘free labour’ exchange, with the awesome telegraphic address ‘Nemesis’. Nine hundred Federation scabs were soon working for Harrison’s, though less efficiently than the men they replaced. When Harrison’s insisted that the men must return to work as ‘free labourers’, Sexton decided he had no option but to back the strike, fearing it would become a test case and that victory for Harrison’s would encourage other firms to withdraw recognition from the union.

         Applying his usual methods, Sexton had Labour MP D. J. Shackleton and the Dublin Labour-Nationalist MP J. P. Nannetti protest in parliament that housing the scabs in dock sheds was in breach of health and safety regulations. The government referred the matter to Liverpool Corporation, and the failure to get the Corporation to take action came as a major blow. By contrast with Sexton’s strategy, Jim concentrated on appealing to the men’s fighting spirit. Elected to the strike committee, he took an increasingly prominent role as the struggle escalated. This was a new kind of battle for him, one less abstract than politics, and his speeches acquired a more extreme tone. The strikers, he said, ‘would chew the grass in Sefton Park’ rather than surrender. After 13 weeks, they did surrender. Other employers did not mobilise against the union, but Jim’s job with Harrison’s was gone and he was unlikely to be taken on anywhere on the waterfront.50

         The end of one career proved to be the beginning of a lifelong vocation. During the dispute Jim had organised a new branch of the NUDL with 1,200 members, and the union executive appointed him a temporary organiser at a salary of £2.10s per week. Sexton later wrote that he opposed the appointment, feeling that Jim was too self-promotional. Possibly this was hindsight. In November 1905, Jim successfully directed Sexton’s campaign for election to Liverpool Corporation. In December, preparatory to the upcoming general election, Jim became Sexton’s agent for the Westminster constituency of West Toxteth. It would be a contest of Orange and Green, of shipping magnate and docker. The Liberals withdrew to give the ILP nominated Sexton a straight fight against Robert Houston, a Conservative and a shipowner, who had held the seat since 1892. Since 1904 the big issue for anti-Tories was the Conservative government’s introduction of indentured Chinese ‘coolies’ to alleviate the labour shortage in the South African goldmines caused by the Boer War. Labour feared that a precedent was being set for the importation of cheap labour to Britain, and denounced ‘Chinese slavery’ as a bitter fruit of the ‘blood and treasure’ squandered in crushing the Boers. Houston had done well out of the war, leasing his entire fleet to the government, and opening a new shipping line to South Africa. Jim made ‘Chinese slavery’ his ‘battle-cry’. Assisted by Bower, his theatrics included a mock funeral through the main streets, with a brass band, a glass-sided hearse showing a coffin draped in the Union Jack, and a cortège of several cabs trailed by 50 ‘coolies’ in yellow dye, oakum pigtails, and home-made mandarin jackets.51 It was the stereotypical view of ‘John Chinaman’ and chimed with the widely held racism of the age, but Jim would later demonstrate repeatedly his respect for men of all races. The election saw the Labour Representation Committee make a breakthrough, and jump from one to 29 seats. Emboldened, it changed its name to the Labour Party. Though Sexton lost, he acknowledged Jim’s efforts:

         
            Larkin displayed an energy that was almost superhuman. The division was one of the storm centres of religious strife, and the stronghold of the Orange Order, through whom Mr Houston held the seat. My being a Roman Catholic naturally made the situation still more lively. But nothing could frighten Jim. He plunged recklessly into the fray where the fighting was most furious, organised gigantic processions against Chinese labour on the rand, faced hostile mobs saturated with religious bigotry who were howling for our blood, and last but by no means least, competed in the risky game of impersonation then played at almost every election in Liverpool. I am convinced that it was largely owing to Larkin’s overwhelming labours that we reduced a Tory majority from four thousand to five hundred, but I would rather not give my opinion on some of the methods he adopted to achieve that highly commendable result.52

         

         Here, as elsewhere in his memoir, Sexton was curiously generous to Jim. Houston’s majority was 781. The constituency contained about 2,800 trade unionists, and Sexton remarked after the poll: ‘The dockers weren’t all true to my labour standard.’53 Sexton also praised Jim’s union work in the NUDL executive reports of 1906 and 1907.

         Meanwhile, Jim was made a permanent, national organiser. In 1906, he had re-organised the port of Preston in Lancashire for the NUDL, building a branch of 900 members, and negotiating a closed shop and a wage increase. His impact on Scotland, if just a scratch when compared with Irish events, was notable for introducing on some waterfronts a debate between Sexton’s moderation and Larkinite militancy, and minor echoes of the big national issues that would engulf Ireland. The Aberdeen branch was re-organised, and Jim frustrated efforts by employers and the National Free Labour Association – formed in 1893 by a disgruntled ex-docker to combat trade unionism – to create a ‘free port’ in Aberdeen, as they had in Dundee in 1904.54 After a short, successful stop in Ardrossan, Jim spent nearly six months in Glasgow, ever a troublesome port for the NUDL, recruiting coal-heavers and cranemen. He also worked with ‘the most degraded, harassed body of workers I had ever any experience of in my chequered career – the iron ore workers who discharged the boats from Spain on the Govan side of the River’.55 Many were recruited from Glasgow’s ‘down and outs’, according to Jim they were ‘mostly North of Ireland men’, and were known as ‘the meths drinkers’.56 It was in a vain attempt to organise them that he met James Fearon. Jim’s account of how they met, in an obituary article on Fearon, illustrates Jim at his best: graphic in prose, empathic in spirit, and experiential in method.

         
            Only men who have shovelled Caliened iron ore or Manganese ore can appreciate the labour. They were in a continual state of semi-starvation and drunkenness. These were the first human beings I had ever seen drinking meythalated [sic] spirits or, as it’s called in Dublin, ‘Spunk’ … A few among them – not lost to all sense of manhood – had tried, time and again, to organise their fellows, but failure had attended their efforts.

            I studied the position for some time and then I decided to go and join them, work with them and find out the realities of the situation.

            I got a job one night in a limestone boat – one of Robertson’s – and among the crowd I noticed a chap who, in the pauses between tubs being hooked on, kept talking – not drink or women, the usual talk, but strange to say, economics. He had a good grip of his subject, but lacked the power of expression. When we knocked off for our ‘Morning’, a custom followed in all Scottish ports of knocking-off for a quarter of an hour to get a glass of whisky, I noticed this chap did not follow, but went to his coat and took out a bottle filled with tea. I joined him, and started a discussion, and after a few minutes conversation found out he was a Newry man. We compared notes and found out we were neighbours’ children. I disclosed my purpose and thus my comrade Jim Fearon and I met and from that hour – we were one in understanding and purpose.57

         

         Jim’s six months in Glasgow reaped a few rewards. A short-lived branch was formed at Govan, and he overcame ‘considerable employer opposition’ to talking to Sexton. Arguably, he was already coming to the conclusion that Sexton’s reluctance to take action was earning the NUDL no respect from bosses or dockers. Similar to Ireland, he would find the smaller employers more ‘amenable’ to union pressure, and their willingness to compromise ensured the survival of the union on Clydeside.58

         It was enough for the NUDL executive. All too well aware of the strength of the Shipping Federation in Glasgow, it was well pleased with Jim’s record. With the British Labour Party holding its annual conference in Belfast in January 1907, it seemed timely to attempt the re-organisation of the Irish ports. The Ulsterman was going home.
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            TWO

            
‘PIPING DAYS AND ROARING NIGHTS’, 19071


         

         
            The arrival of Larkin was a godsend to the dockers and carters. He was the man that gave them the lead.

            William Hunter, carter, 19072

            
                

            

            —

         

         On Sunday 20 January 1907, Larkin disembarked from a cross-channel ferry at Belfast. For the detectives watching the arrival of delegates to the British Labour Party’s annual conference, he was easy to read. What would become a trademark black, broad-brimmed hat provided the bohemian touch affected by socialists of the fin de siècle, while his muscular frame, shovel-like hands, worn old great-coat, and thick, droopy moustache, betrayed his 15 years as a docker. Larkin stayed with Tom and Marie Johnson at 2 Frederick Terrace on the affluent Malone Road for a few days while looking for digs. Tom represented commercial travellers on the trades council, and would be a strong admirer of his work in Belfast. They had lost contact since their days in the Liverpool ILP, and Larkin carried a letter of introduction.3 A new chapter in the history of Irish trade unionism was about to unfold. With astonishing alacrity, Irish industrial relations was about to jump from a staid style reminiscent of mid-Victorian England to one with the violent edginess of new sectors on the economic frontiers of Australia and the US.4 And in many respects the explanation was that Ireland too was on the periphery, with a high proportion of its labour force in unskilled occupations, a scarcely developed arbitration machinery, and a workforce neglected by British Labour. In search of their explanation, and to make a distinction from what they called ‘bona fide trade unionism’, to which they pretended to have no objection, employers coined the term ‘Larkinism’ as a short hand for militancy, the cult of the agitator, and the sympathetic strike. Larkin would also make transport a leading sector in the Irish Labour movement. So powerful were these innovations, that his setbacks in Belfast would be even more significant than his successes.

         BELFAST IN 1907

         The northern capital had been transformed in the nineteenth century, from a borough of some 13,000 people in 1800 into a major manufacturing centre of almost 387,000 souls in 1911. With nine per cent of the population, Belfast contained 21 per cent of Ireland’s industrial workers, and was pre-eminent in the three major product groups: linen; engineering and shipbuilding; and brewing, distilling, and aerated waters. While Dublin enjoyed a sizeable trade in food, drink, and tobacco, Belfast nearly monopolised other sectors. In 1907, it accounted for £19.1 million of Ireland’s £20.9 million worth of manufactured exports, excluding food and drink.5 Ostensibly, the city was Ireland’s Labour as well as its industrial capital, with the island’s biggest trades council and strongest left. In some respects Belfast 1907 is a clearer guide to Larkinism than Dublin 1913, when the personalities of Big Jim and William Martin Murphy and the dramatic backdrop of the slums overshadowed the core issues in the struggle. In the public memory, the raw, class solidarity of 1913 came to be understood as a by-product of Dublin’s appalling social conditions.6

         Yet Larkinism began in Belfast, where housing was comparatively good: one per cent of families in the city lived in one room tenements in 1903, compared with 26 per cent in Glasgow, and 35 per cent in Dublin.7 The root of Larkinism lay in employer hostility to the unionisation of unskilled workers, and Belfast was as difficult a city for unskilled unionism as any other in Ireland. Craftsmen earned above the UK average, and were generally in demand. Labourers’ rates were well below average, and many employers believed that the city’s prosperity depended on maintaining an abundance of cheap labour. But the employers had an Achilles heel in transport. Transport workers were at the hinge of commercial life, where strikes would have an immediate and widespread effect, and they were becoming more important to the economy. The 1891 census noted 38,231 ‘persons engaged on railways, roads, rivers, seas, storage, conveyancing messages etc’, and by 1911 the number had risen to 62,947. Within transport, coal dockers and carters were more important again. Cities ran on coal, which heated homes, powered ships and trains and factory furnaces, and produced gas for cooking and street lighting. Moving coal was labour intensive work in poor conditions. Between 1907 and 1912 transport accounted for an annual average of 12 per cent of strikers and under four per cent of strikedays in the UK. In Ireland, it accounted for 22 per cent of strikes, 33 per cent of strikers, and 33 per cent of strikedays over the same period.8

         Larkin had arrived at an exceptional period in Belfast’s political history, which enabled him to win some unlikely allies in the great unrest over the summer. His first duty was to attend the Labour Party’s annual conference, which opened in the large hall of the Young Men’s Christian Association (YMCA) at Wellington Place on Thursday, 24 January. That the conference was held in Belfast reflected the brief and unusual status of the city as a Labour centre. William Walker, an official of the Amalgamated Society of Carpenters and Joiners, and Ireland’s best known trade unionist, had persuaded the trades council in 1903 to initiate Ireland’s only branch of the Labour Representation Committee. Walker had high hopes of winning the Westminster seat of Belfast North, and British Labour leaders were keen to help him, convinced that one of their few victories before 1906 would come in Belfast. The conference made an impact, however ephemeral, on the city. Three hundred and forty-seven delegates attended. Given that most had to make a winter sea-crossing, the number compared favourably with the 363 in London the previous year.9 A capacity crowd of 3,000 packed the Ulster Hall for a rally on the opening night. On Friday night the visitors were entertained by Belfast trades council to a social in Saint Mary’s Hall. The council was embarrassed to admit that it had not requested the customary civic reception. Much had changed in its relations with the Unionists since Lord Mayor Sir James Henderson extended a hearty welcome to the city’s last big Labour convention – the 1898 Irish Trades Union Congress (ITUC) – and the trades council’s affiliation to the largely pro-Home Rule Labour Party was probably the cause. Beneath a banner inscribed ‘Céad Míle Fáilte’, the guests in Saint Mary’s Hall enjoyed displays of step-dancing and renditions of Irish and other airs supplied by the Amalgamated Musicians’ Union. Keir Hardie commended the evening’s ‘fine old Gaelic spirit’.10

         Delegates to the conference were charmed by the prevailing atmosphere, and the absence of loyalist animosity, which had disrupted a parade and rally at the close of the 1893 British Trades Union Congress (BTUC), the last occasion on which British Labour had assembled on the banks of the Lagan. Hardie ‘rejoiced … that the old order of religious bigotry was passing away from Belfast, and a new era of Labour and Fraternity had begun’. John Hodge, MP, who would become one of the first Labour cabinet ministers in 1916, wrote:

         
            In the face of the work of the Labour Party, sectarian bigotry is decreasing, the Orange and Green are blending together and making Labour their politics. A policeman voiced to me the opinion that the Labour Party had decreased sectarian rows as nothing else had ever done – and he had been in the force for nearly 20 years.

         

         Bruce Glasier, a veteran of more bruising visits to Ireland, remarked on the ‘great change [that had] come over Belfast’.11 There had been some extraordinary developments within Unionism when the Tories were in power and Home Rule was off the government’s agenda. During the 1890s, an ultra-Protestant element led by Arthur Trew had hounded socialist speakers in Belfast. Trew founded the Belfast Protestant Association (BPA) in 1894, and his successor, T. H. ‘Tod’ Sloan, won a bye-election in 1902 to capture Belfast South from the Unionists and become the city’s first working-class MP. Sloan was a semi-skilled shipyard worker, and fought the bye-election for ‘Protestantism, Orangeism, total abstinence, and trade unionism’. In 1903 he launched the Independent Loyal Orange Institution of Ireland, more usually called the Independent Orange Order, to combat Dublin Castle’s perceived appeasement of nationalists and ‘Romanisation’ in the Anglican Churches.12 Belfast trades council had mixed feelings about Sloan. In 1902 it had voted 9–3 against corresponding with the BPA, and in 1905 a motion to endorse Sloan in the next general election was lost 21–18. However, and not for the last time, once dissident loyalists got rolling, they began to pinball about the political table. Under Imperial Grand Master Robert Lindsay Crawford – editor of the Irish Protestant – the Independent Orange Order acquired a potted liberalism, and the BPA, serving as its political arm, became a vehicle of working-class criticism of the ‘fur coat brigade’ in the city’s Unionist associations and Orange lodges. To the casual observer, it looked as if the old sectarian mould was starting to crack.

         Industrially too, Larkin had arrived at an opportune time. Between 1870 and 1914, the economy was dominated by a cyclical pattern of boom and slump, with each usually lasting three years. An upturn in the trade cycle in 1906 had been generating a resurgence of militancy, especially in Belfast. In May of that year, 17,000 spinners, weavers, and others had struck for wage increases. Then in 1907, retail prices rose by about ten per cent. Thirty-four strikes hit the city in 1907, beginning with a series of stoppages by textile operatives in February, and subsequently affecting engineering, the service trades, navvies, and other labourers.13 There had also been a favourable change in labour law. In their judgement on the Taff Vale case in 1901, the Law Lords had made unions liable for financial damages caused by strikes. When the Liberals were returned to power in 1906, they introduced the Trades Disputes Act, which was known as ‘the Congress Bill’ as it was virtually written by the BTUC. The Act restored trade union immunities in lawful strikes and guaranteed the right of peaceful picketing. It was regarded as the cornerstone of trade union rights, and remained the basic statutory instrument in Irish industrial relations until 1990. The Liberal government also approved the development of conciliation and arbitration by the Board of Trade. For all that, what Larkin achieved in Belfast was extraordinary, the moreso as the tide was on the turn. The potential for building a Protestant anti-Unionist coalition had already been undermined by the Liberal victory in 1906, which brought Home Rule back into the realm of possibility. Labour fielded seven candidates for municipal honours in January 1907, its biggest slate to date, and all, including Walker, were defeated.14

         ORGANISING THE DOCKERS

         To find a secretary for his branch, Larkin went to the Falls Road for Michael McKeown. Formerly a Birkenhead docker and vice-president of the NUDL, McKeown had organised for the union in Belfast in 1891–2.15 The Unionist press exploited McKeown’s nationalist politics during the lengthy strike of 1892, and the crippled branch was killed off in the second Home Rule crisis when Protestant dockers withdrew. McKeown was elected to the Corporation as a Nationalist in January 1907. In what may have been a balancing act, Larkin also allied with Alex Boyd, secretary of the Municipal Employees’ Association.16 A local society up to 1905, when it merged with its British namesake, the 600 strong Association included tramwaymen, making it one of the few trades council affiliates with a presence in transport. It had a distinct tradition, embodying an edgy mix of loyalism and Labourism in a sector where discrimination was virtually quantifiable.17 With 25 per cent of the population, Catholics held 28 per cent of central government and nine per cent of local government jobs in Belfast.18 Boyd was an Independent Unionist councillor and a prominent Independent Orangeman. At the same time, Alex Bowman, who had been run out of Belfast for supporting Home Rule, had found employment as an organiser of the Association from 1895 to 1901, and the Association was one of the few unions in Belfast to affiliate to the ITUC at the height of the third Home Rule crisis.19 While he could flip-flop between radicalism and reaction in politics, there was no doubting Boyd’s trade unionism or antagonism to ‘the fur coat brigade’.

         Larkin began his recruitment campaign by holding meetings at places where dockers gathered each morning to seek work. The technique in his greatest talent has never received definitive analysis, and no recording of him exists. But we know that he had an exceptionally loud, booming voice, and usually declaimed in a rapid, forceful manner, using emotion, wit, and body language with sweeping hand gestures. According to Bert Wolfe:

         
            When Larkin spoke, his blue eyes flashed and sparked. He roared and thundered … Sometimes an unruly forelock came down on his forehead as he moved his head in vigorous emphasis. Impulsive, fiery, passionate, swift at repartee, highly personal, provocative, and hot tempered in attack, strong and picturesque of speech, Larkin’s language was rich in the turns of Irish poetic imagery sprinkled with neologisms of his own devising.20

         

         John Swift, then a young baker in Dublin, recalled:

         
            There were usually others on the platform, perhaps Connolly, O’Brien, P. T. Daly, Foran, or Farren. But we had eyes, and ears, only for Jem Larkin …

            Larkin was a fine physical specimen, over six feet tall, broad-shouldered, full-chested, and with large angular features that served as a jutting, mobile lantern to eyes that seemed aflame and ready to burn …

            But, above all, it was Larkin’s speech that enthralled us. I was never to hear a greater orator. Usually when public speakers try to convey impressions of anger or scorn or other strong feelings the effect on their audience is either of good, middling or bad art, of something worked up rather than deeply felt.

            With Larkin it was different. With him anger and scorn, and whatever other emotion, were on ready tap, as were the flow of words and cadences that made them poetry and drama to the spell-bound audience.21

         

         Desmond MacCarthy made a similar point about his body language:

         
            Larkin is a fine looking fellow; tall, loose-limbed, he gives that always agreeable, physical impression of great natural strength, which its possessor has not troubled to keep up. His gestures are easy, and about all his movements there is a suggestion of nervous power losing itself, perhaps in a fundamental good-nature …22

         

         The style was not to everyone’s taste. Henry Bolton, inviting him to address miners in County Durham in 1914, asked him not to ‘give too much of yourself away’, perspire less, and speak more slowly, as some couldn’t follow ‘your native brogue’.23 Others thought him longwinded, disconnected, or even raving, and when not dealing with concrete issues, Larkin could be platitu dinous. But there are numerous testaments to the power of his presence and oratory. His future fidus achates, Jack Carney, offered the best explanation of his effectiveness:

         
            What impressed me most about Larkin was his ability to translate the feelings of his audience in sympathetic language. One felt that through some mysterious means, he had investigated your personal position and was taking the opportunity of saying for you what you could not say yourself. His language was not the language of tears but the language of hope … More than any other man, Jim Larkin taught me that Socialism does not spread by itself because of its own inner beauty or logic or consistency. It spreads when there is something in it that makes it a response to the needs of the hour … He had an uncanny insight into the worker’s mind.24

         

         On first hearing him speak in 1910, Constance Markievicz was also struck by the chemistry between orator and audience.

         
            Sitting there, listening to Larkin, I realised that I was in the presence of something I had never come across before, some great primeval force rather than a man … It seemed as if his personality caught up, assimilated, and threw back on to the vast crowd that surrounded him every emotion that swayed them, every pain and joy that they had ever felt made articulate and sanctified. Only the great elemental force that is in all crowds had passed into his nature forever …25

         

         By mid-February, Larkin had recruited 400 dockers. In March a branch of the NUDL was formally established. By April, the branch included 2,900 of Belfast’s 3,100 dockers.26 It was impressive progress among workers who were mainly casual, and divided in various ways. About 1,000 were ‘constant’, and the rest were ‘spell-men’, casuals paid by the hour. Larkin described the wages system in the port as ‘simple chaos’, with stevedores sometimes paying different rates for the same job on the same ship.27 The cross-channel men on the ‘high docks’, where traffic was more regular, were Protestant. The deep-sea men on the ‘low docks’ were Catholic. Catholic dockers tended to live close to the waterfront, in ‘Sailortown’. The Protestants were more dispersed. There were also about 1,500 carters engaged by the shipping companies or master carriers supplying the docks. Carting was regarded as a superior, more ‘Protestant’ occupation, though carters and master carriers were drawn from both communities. The caste divisions persisted in the NUDL branch. The cross-channel dockers met in the Municipal Employees’ Association’s rooms at Victoria Street, and the deep-sea men at Bridge End.28

         Larkin affiliated his branch to the trades council on 4 April.29 The union appeared to be winning recognition from employers, and he was happy to let the process mature. Like James Sexton, he wished to avoid confrontation, especially on the issues of recognition or the closed shop, and pursue legal tactics. Like Sexton, he tried to keep the NUDL as a dockers’ union; though he welcomed some allied workers, which was more than Sexton would have wanted, he also declined requests for help. And like Sexton in 1905, membership spontaneity and employer militancy would force his hand.

         For the moment it seemed that Larkin might make his mark in politics rather than trade unionism. He pushed the council to collaborate with the ILP, and persuaded the trades council secretary, John Murphy, to stand for an aldermanship in the Dock ward with NUDL backing. That same month, he campaigned for Walker in another bye-election in Belfast North, though Walker was famous for his opposition to Home Rule, and infamous for courting the BPA. There must not be a single ‘blackleg’ at the polls, he told a large meeting in the Painters’ Hall on 2 April.30 Despite his speaking skills, his role in the campaign was overshadowed by the Labour MPs who came to endorse Walker. In May he was in Dublin to represent the NUDL at the annual ITUC and seconded the usual motion commending unions to affiliate to the British Labour Party, a motion opposed regularly by nationalist and republican delegates. He gave further evidence that he was a Labourite first in June and July when he canvassed for Pete Curran, an ILP’er, in a bye-election in Jarrow. In a decision which caused controversy in Irish Labour circles, the United Irish League had decided to contest the seat, threatening to siphon enough votes from Curran to allow a Conservative victory. Curran was an old friend of Larkin’s, and won the election comfortably. There was talk of Larkin standing against Joe Devlin, who had recently won Belfast West for the Nationalists.31

         THE DOCKERS’ AND CARTERS’ STRIKE

         Meanwhile, the industrial war had begun. On 26 April labourers in the Sirocco Engineering Works struck for a pay rise. There is nothing to suggest that Larkin had any influence on the dispute. The men were not unionised, and they had returned to work by 1 May, having signed ‘the document’, promising not to join a union. Their leaders were blacklisted. But the strike unsettled employers. At Kelly’s coal quay, some NUDL men were dismissed on 26 April, and 400 colleagues stopped work in protest. Samuel Kelly said frankly that ‘the situation at issue had no reference to wages whatsoever; it was merely as to whether the dockers should associate themselves with a union which he considered should not embrace such a class of employment’.32 Kelly was not alone. Sometime in late April, the secretary of the Ulster District Office of the Shipping Federation appealed to headquarters for assistance in anticipation of unrest. He was promised the services of ‘our general Labour superintendent who will thoroughly investigate the situation, and we shall then be prepared to act immediately should the necessity arise’.33 Larkin scented trouble, and was anxious to avoid confrontation with the Federation. He opposed the strike at Kelly’s. Kelly had contracts with public authorities and would be vulnerable to legal tactics.34 He was soon using scabs, and Larkin’s NUDL members were not so patient.

         On 6 May, 70 spell-men with the Belfast Steamship Company walked off the SS Optic in protest at the employment and abusive attitude of a non-union man. Again, Larkin tried to defuse the situation. Immediately, he met the legal representative of the Steamship Company, said a mistake had been made, and asked that the men be allowed to return to work. When they reported for work on 8 May, they found the SS Caloric arriving from Liverpool with a cargo of scabs. Another 140 union men stopped work, and another 100 scabs arrived the next day. There was a violent response. The locked-out men at Kelly’s assaulted scabs and forced them off the job. They then joined with other union men and attacked scabs working for the Steamship Company. Kelly settled on 10 May, recognising the NUDL and granting a pay rise. But Thomas Gallaher, chairman of the Steamship Company, tobacco factor, and shareholder in the Belfast Ropeworks, was determined to quash the emerging organisation of unskilled labour. When, on 13 May, the Lord Mayor proposed arbitration – to which Larkin was always open – Gallaher refused to negotiate and called for more police protection.35

         Larkin now had a major fight on his hands, and it was typical of him to oppose action initially, and get stuck in once the battle started. As Sexton did not sanction strike pay until 19 July, the challenge was met in a way that became part of the Larkin legend. Sexton’s memoirs printed the legend:

         
            Financially Jim had the lives of nine cats, and he lived them all – most of ’em twice. He would order a strike as casually as he would ask for bacon for his breakfast, trusting to luck for the funds even if he hadn’t a copper at this command, and it was amazing to see how luck served him …36

         

         In reality, Larkin grafted hard to make his own luck. He left his digs to sleep on the floor of the union rooms at Victoria Street and paid his salary into the strike fund.37 To sustain the men from street collections, he addressed nightly meetings and organised parades. His energy and oratory made the fight peculiarly his. The financial pressure eased a little when the trades council established a fighting fund on 4 July.

         As ‘Larkinites’ and ‘Larkinism’ entered the vocabulary, the struggle became personalised. Larkin was vilified, and, for his part, he lashed back ad hominem when attacked. Indeed, attacked or not, he preferred to go for the man, rather than the ball. Over the coming weeks, he denounced Gallaher repeatedly. Violence was always a possibility. A rally on 16 May, which drew over 6,000 people, was followed by clashes with the police. Larkin himself was involved in a dangerous incident on 31 May. Richard Bamber and a few fellow scabs boarded on the SS Caloric had gone ashore for a drink and Bamber was later accosted at Victoria Street. Watching from the NUDL rooms, Larkin saw him draw a knife and stab three men. Dashing to the scene, he hit Bamber with a stone. Bamber staggered away, before being felled by coal shovel. Both he and Larkin were charged and eventually acquitted.

         For all the excitement, Larkin was still fighting a conventional, sectional dispute. In a few cases, he had prevented further strikes. That was to change on 20 June when he demanded a wage increase for all cross-channel dockers, and on 26 June a further 300 men joined the struggle. The trigger of this escalation is unclear. Divers groups of dockers were tendering differing pay demands, and any union official would be anxious to standardise rates. The conflict escalated again the day after when 200 carters struck in sympathy and for their own wage claim. More scabs arrived from the Shipping Federation, and 500 soldiers sealed off the quays from pickets. The carters’ dispute centralised another issue; the right to refuse to work with scabs or handle ‘tainted goods’. When the majority of carters backed Larkin’s insistence on the point, and the master carriers rejected negotiations with the NUDL, a generalised struggle was at hand.

         An indication of the pressure on Larkin emerged on 2 July, when he announced that he was handing over the leadership of the strike to ‘A Protestant in the person of Mr Alexander Boyd’.38 In addition to complaints that he was a trouble-maker and a dictator, with the real support of no more than a militant minority, and wild rumours about his background – twice in May he denied being related to one of the Manchester Martyrs – the Unionist press had questioned Larkin’s suitability to lead a struggle of largely Protestant workers. Trew, who had split with Sloan after the 1906 general election, denounced Larkin as a nationalist. However, from the outset, there was a firm cross-community solidarity among the ‘Larkinites’. Now it was Trew who was driven from the Custom House steps, Belfast’s speakers’ corner.39 This was not Larkin’s last use of the resignation ploy, and it usually betrayed a personal hesitancy rather than lack of confidence among the workers; in this instance a moment of doubt before confronting the master carriers. After Boyd rejected the resignation offer, Larkin issued a manifesto threatening a general portal strike. Some of the smaller companies settled with the NUDL, but the bigger carriers, and then the coal merchants, retaliated en bloc. By 15 July, they had locked out 1,680 carters and porters. Some 2,340 men were now affected, of which only 570 had taken strike action.

         Mid July marked the zenith of the struggle and the start of the mythification. As with most myths, those about Larkin simplified a more complex truth. It was said that he led Catholics and Protestants in a 12 July parade. In fact, he spent the day in Liverpool with his mother, who was ill, and went on to Yorkshire, to canvass for Victor Grayson, the ILP candidate in the Colne Valley bye-election.40 In truth, Larkin forged a brief, triumphant unity across the religious divide, climaxing on 26 July in a grand trades council procession which pointedly wound its way around east Belfast to the Falls and Shankill Roads. One hundred thousand people turned out, led by Larkin, McKeown, Boyd, and Crawford, whose Independent Orange Order had made a collection for the strike on 12th. It was said that Larkin incited the Royal Irish Constabulary (RIC) mutiny on 24 July, when 2–300 officers, out of 1,000 in the city, assembled to demand better pay and conditions. In fact, he had no direct part in this unrest. In truth, it was a by-product, not only of the burden of strike duties on the force, but of the climate he was generating. The mutiny was instigated by the suspension of Constable William Barrett on 19 July for refusing to sit beside a scab on a motor waggon. Barrett, a Kerryman, made it clear that he objected to the RIC alliance with the masters to crush the carters and dockers. A circular, listing police grievances, was published on 22nd.

         The events on 27 July would have been inconceivable without Larkin. Some 600 RIC took over Musgrave Street barracks; Barrett was chaired to the Custom House steps to speak to both workers and police; and, back in the barracks, the RIC were joined in a lengthy conclave by strikers, who advised them to seek redress by petition and return to duties! Sexton later wrote in awe of Larkin conducting this meeting: ‘and I still marvel at the power Larkin then revealed.’41 Actually, Sexton himself was there, but Larkin was in Dublin. Briefly, it looked as if the trouble would spread. Cork RIC sergeants proposed to meet to discuss grievances. Waterford constables telegrammed Belfast: ‘Military, Maxims, and Gatlings have no terror for Waterford boys. Ready for any emergency. Wire developments.’42 By 2 August the mutiny was crushed. Over 270 RIC were transferred from the city and an extra 6,000 troops drafted in. Even the navy was alerted to anchor warships in Belfast Lough.

         Sexton arrived in Belfast on 19 July with Alderman Allen Gee and Alderman Isaac Mitchell, vice-chairman and secretary of the General Federation of Trade Unions, in effect a mutual strike fund of some British TUC affiliates. The Federation had rejected a request for aid from the NUDL in June, and Aldermen Gee and Mitchell were concerned primarily with getting a settlement. With an authority gained from promises of desperately needed financial help, Sexton, Gee, and Mitchell first tackled the coal merchants’ lockout and a separate ironmoulders’ strike. How much the strike cost the NUDL is unclear. It was certainly the longest and most expensive for the union to date. It has been claimed that the NUDL spent almost £5,000 on the dispute, but its annual accounts put total strike pay for 1907 at £921, and its bank reserves were not ‘seriously damaged’. What is known is that the strike committee’s income amounted to £8,922, of which the General Federation contributed £1,692; dockers still at work were levied, and other local donations were substantial.43 An end to the coal lockout was negotiated on 25 July. It was a weak settlement, given that Belfast Co-operative Society’s importation of several shiploads of coal had made the merchants’ anxious to resume normal trading. The men accepted wage rates offered six weeks earlier, and undertook to work with ‘nons’. It was not clear whether the union was recognised. Crucially, it was the first sectional settlement, and ended hopes of securing a ‘one back, all back’ conclusion. With other local labour leaders, Larkin loyally hailed the outcome as a breakthrough. Two weeks later he would complain about his victory plans being spoiled by ‘three Englishmen in his absence who knew nothing about the situation’.44 He was not alone in his disappointment.

         By now, Belfast was attracting a stream of visitors from the British left. Since May, Larkin, Boyd, and Walker had been cabling Ramsay MacDonald and other Labour MPs on the conduct of the strike. Larkin was the most persistent, sometimes sending two or three wires a day. He liked telegrams. They were modern, direct, occasionally a theatrical prop, and offered the hope of a deus ex machina. Inevitably, the persistence tested patience. A third cable to MacDonald on 28 June asked: ‘why wire Boyd, don’t you think I know the facts?’45 From early June, Labour MPs tabled a series of parliamentary questions about the behaviour of strike-breakers, the military, and the authorities. Mostly, this was as much as Larkin requested, but in July he appealed to David Shackleton, MP, and MacDonald to get the House of Commons adjourned.46 John Maclean was in the city on the weekend of 1–3 August at the invitation of the Belfast Socialist Society, and stayed with Larkin. Belfast made an overwhelming impression on him: ‘Addressed strikers at night’, he wrote for the SDF paper Justice. ‘Audience of thousands. Labourers mad to join trade unions … Had three monster meetings … about 10,000 present, some estimated 15,000.’47 Then a member of the SDF and sceptical of the political value of trade unions, Maclean acquired an undying admiration for Larkin, and was persuaded that unions could play a radical role in class struggle. He would become best remembered as a leading figure of ‘Red Clydeside’. Grayson, who had sensationally won the bye-election at Colne Valley, spoke to a capacity audience in Saint Mary’s Hall on 8 August. An over-optimistic Belfast ILP created five new branches in late 1907.48 Another visiting ILP’er was Bob Morley, a popular orator on the ILP circuit and a leader of the Workers’ Union. Morley established two branches of the Workers’ Union in Belfast, and appointed Joe Harris, an upholsterer from Dublin, as his Irish agent. Harris raised local membership to 500, before moving south to become a thorn in Larkin’s side.49

         As more troops poured in to protect scab carters, Larkin felt the situation was turning critical. On 6 and 7 August, after talks with Walker and Grayson, he urged MacDonald to summon a joint meeting of the party executive and the BTUC parliamentary committee. He and Walker did secure a meeting with party leaders and warned of ‘a religious war’ if the army was not withdrawn.50 As feared, the heavy security presence led to rioting in west Belfast on 10–11 August. Why troops were deployed in a nationalist area far from the docks is unclear, unless, as alleged, it was to provoke the Catholics in a way that would scare the Protestants. On 12 August, soldiers killed two and wounded five others on the Falls Road. McKeown’s son was an eye-witness:

         
            One summer evening Bob Bateson, Mick Hamil and myself went down the Falls to the baths where a platoon of military was stationed. From the side streets women were delivering loads of stone-pavors to some dozen or so strikers, or rioters in favour of the strikers, while hundreds lined the side walk on the Baths’ side watching the rioters stoning the military, who were standing to attention with their backs to the walk on the opposite side. The pavers bounced round the soldiers who had to duck sometimes to save their heads. The corporal in change maintained a steady, stoical stance, but eventually winced when struck by a stone. He ordered and led a charge on the rioters. Leader of the rioters was a well-known character named ‘Covey’ Cochrane who was well fortified. He never flinched as the soldiers came for him at the double, the leader well ahead of his troops. As he approached Cochrane, the latter advanced staggering to meet him and flung a heavy pavor that caught the plucky Corporal in the midriff and doubled him up. He turned and fled after his already retreating companions. Cochrane and his comrades were not long in possession of the field, a more deadly enemy appeared in quick time to end the mimic battle in tragedy for several onlookers. A Major down near Albert St. read the riot act while soldiers dropped on their knees with rifles at the ready and before the spectators were aware of what was about to happen a volley of shots rang out. My pals and I ran up the road to get out of the danger zone, as we passed, a man named Sinn Féin Nolan standing on the kerb shouted, ‘yellow-bellies! Running away from British blank shot.’ ‘You stay them Billy,’ said one of our boys, ‘we’re for Conway St, they haven’t made bullets yet to go round corners’. Some two hundred yards up the road from the scene of the riot several people were shot – one was shot near the scene – two were killed.51

         

         In the wake of the RIC mutiny, and increasing nationalist criticism of the authorities, the riots were enough to convince some working-class Protestants of claims that the strike masked nationalist sedition, and brought the Falls–Shankill interface to the brink of sectarian violence. Larkin hurried back from Dublin, and with Boyd, Walker, and Catholic priests, arranged for picketing of the affected area after the military were withdrawn. Handbills were distributed urging workers not to play ‘the employers’ game of dividing Catholic and Protestant’.52 On 13 August, Larkin telegrammed Augustine Birrell, the Chief Secretary for Ireland, saying that the press had turned the conflict from a trade union into a ‘political or religious’ dispute, and appealing for arbitration. Trade unionists enroled ‘a special police force’ to patrol areas of tension.53

         That same day, the British government did intervene, in the person of the Board of Trade’s newly appointed conciliator, George Askwith, who would become the government’s chief industrial troubleshooter and one of the ‘secret masters’ of the age of agitation. Askwith decided that the first thing to be done was to interview Larkin. Askwith’s recollections of events, published in 1920, were confused with subsequent history – he mentions James Connolly, then in America, as ‘the brain’ behind the dockers – and his memory of Larkin was of a volatile bohemian: ‘a tall, thin man, with long dark hair and blue-grey mobile eyes, at that time wearing a very heavy black and drooping moustache, a large black sombrero hat, and a kind of black toga.’54 In fact, Larkin’s hair was short and the ‘toga’ was probably his great-coat. Despite Askwith’s bourgeois sensibilities, he thought Larkin ‘an interesting man’, admired his ‘zest’, and, like others of his class, was amazed at his ability to be as critical of workers as he was of employers and take no nonsense from the more curmudgeonly of his men. Again, a sectional approach was adopted, with the carters’ strike being dealt with first. Sexton left it to the General Federation of Trade Unions to represent the strikers in the negotiations until 14 August when, alarmed by the violence, he ‘left a sick bed contrary to doctors’ orders’ to hasten to Belfast.55 On 15th, in Saint Mary’s Hall, with two revolvers in his pockets, he persuaded the carters to accept the terms. Larkin listened in silence. Employers conceded a wage increase, and shorter hours. There would be no victimisation, but no guarantee of re-employment, or union recognition. Eager to wrap up the crisis, Labour Party headquarters sent Larkin and Walker the patronising cable: ‘Labour Party congratulate you on success of your peaceful efforts. Authorities must be compelled to defend themselves by public enquiry.’56
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